© Adis International Limited. All rights reserved.

Treatment of Epilepsy in Pregnancy

Irena Nulman. Dionne Laslo and Gideon Koren

Hospital for Sick Children, University of Toronto, Toronto, Ontario, Canada

Contents

Abstract
1. Mechanisms and Clinical Implications of Teratogenicity
2. Pregnancy-Induced Pharmacokinetic Changes of Anticonvulsants
2.1 Carbamazepine
2.2 Phenytoin
2.3 Valproic Acid (Sodium Valproate)
2.4 Phenobarbital
2.5 New Anticonvulsants
2.6 Effect of Anticonvulsants on Phytomenadione (Vitamin K)
3. Management Considerations
3.1 Preconceptional Counselling
3.2 Antenatal Management
3.3 Labour, Delivery and Birth
3.4 Management During Puerperium
4. Summary

Abstract

Pregnant women with epilepsy constitute 0.5% of all pregnancies. Proper seizure control is the primary goal in treating women with epilepsy. The commonly used anticonvulsants are established human teratogens. Factors such as epilepsy, anticonvulsant-induced teratogenicity, patient's genetic predisposition and the severity of convulsive disorder may attribute to adverse pregnancy outcome for the children of women with epilepsy. Anticonvulsant interaction with folic acid and phytomenadione (vitamin K) metabolism may lead to an increased risk for neural tube defect and early neonatal bleeding. Psychological, hormonal and pharmacokinetic changes in pregnancy may escalate seizure activity.

Preconceptional counselling should include patient education to ensure a clear understanding of risks of uncontrolled seizures and possible teratogenicity of anticonvulsants. Genetic counselling should be performed if both parents have epilepsy or the disease is inherited. Seizure control should be achieved at least 6 months prior to conception and, if clinically possible, by the lowest effective dose of a single anticonvulsant according to the type of epilepsy. The new anticonvulsants are not recommended in pregnancy and require further research to prove their safety in humans.

Folic acid 5 mg/day should be administered 3 months before conception and during the first trimester to prevent folic acid deficiency-induced malformations. Antenatal management should include assessment of patients for anticonvulsant-associated birth defects through detailed ultrasound examination and levels of maternal serum α -fetoproteins. Therapeutic drug monitoring should be per-

formed monthly, or as clinically indicated. If phenobarbital, carbamazepine or phenytoin is administered, maternal phytomenadione supplementation should begin 4 weeks before the expected date of delivery.

In order to prevent convulsions during labour, proper seizure control should be achieved during the third trimester. Benzodiazepines or phenytoin are found to be effective for seizure cessation during labour and delivery. Phytomenadione should be administered immediately after birth to the newborn. The neonate should be assessed carefully for epilepsy and anticonvulsant-associated dysmorphology. Advising the patient on postpartum management regarding contraception and breast-feeding will help maximise the best possible outcome for the newborn and mother. With proper preconceptional, antenatal and postpartum management up to 95% of these pregnancies have been reported to have favourable outcomes.

Epilepsy, although not common among pregnant women, is the most common neurological disorder during gestation. Increased public awareness of the progress in diagnosis and management of epilepsy have enabled many women with epilepsy to bear children and manage careers.[1-2] Pregnant women with epilepsy constitute 0.5% of all pregnancies and medical professionals should be aware that with appropriate selection of treatment and prudent preconceptional, antenatal and postpartum management, up to 95% of these pregnancies have been reported to have favourable outcomes.[3] The evaluation of risk and safety of pregnancy in such women is complicated by a variety of factors. Women with epilepsy are at risk of menstrual abnormalities, reproductive endocrine disorders and reduced fertility.^[4] Polycystic ovaries, hypo- or hypergonadotrophic hypogonadism are more common in women with epilepsy than in the general population. The investigators relate those abnormalities to the effect of seizures on the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis^[5] and to a possible adverse effect of anticonvulsants.^[6,7]

Even when not exposed *in utero* to medications, infants of mothers with epilepsy have higher rates of major and minor malformations^[8,9] when compared with the general population. To add to the complexity, several commonly used anticonvulsants are established human teratogens. A large number of studies in humans and from animal investigations have shown a consistently increased risk for congenital malformation following anti-

convulsant exposure *in utero*. Table I presents congenital malformations in humans caused by anticonvulsants for which there is consensus among scientists.

No agreement has been reached among experts about which of the commonly used anticonvulsants is safest to the unborn baby. Research indicates that the incidence of major and minor malformations is influenced by the number of anticonvulsant medications, the dosage of the drug, timing of use during gestation, pharmacokinetics and differences in metabolism.^[8,10] Some investigators hypothesise that anticonvulsant-induced teratogenicity occurs in genetically predisposed individuals.[11] Other researchers have reported that epilepsy per se, the type and severity of the seizure disorder, also contributes to the dysmorphology.[12] Considering the complex interaction between genetic and environmental factors, it is difficult to attribute congenital abnormalities in children of mothers with epilepsy to any single factor, [13] especially because of the lack of large enough studies with sufficient power to control for such determinants.

1. Mechanisms and Clinical Implications of Teratogenicity

Several mechanisms have been proposed for the teratogenic effects of anticonvulsants. Some anticonvulsive medications (e.g. phenytoin) form intermediate oxide metabolites which are known to be embryotoxic. Free active oxide radicals have been shown to bind to proteins and nucleic acids

Structural and functional defects	Phenytoin	Valproic acid (sodium valproate)	Carbamazepine	Phenobarbital
Congenital heart defects	+	+	_	+
Cleft lip and/or palate	+	+	_	+
Neural tube defect	_	+	+	_
Genitourinary defects	+	+	+	+
Cognitive impairment	+	+	±	±
Minor anomalies	+	+	+	+

Table I. Congenital malformations in humans caused by anticonvulsants

and may interfere with DNA and RNA synthesis. Critical amounts of free radicals may increase the risk for perinatal death, intrauterine growth retardation and malformations.^[14]

 \pm denotes inconclusive evidence; + = defect present; - = defect absent.

Scavenging enzymes capable of conjugating these free radicals to inactive substances, may prevent fetal damage, and variabilities in such enzymes may explain variable fetal outcome. Unstable intermediates can also be metabolised to nonreactive hydrodiones by epoxide hydrolase. It has been proposed that fetuses with low levels of free radical–scavenging enzymes and low activity of epoxide hydrolase are at increased risk of developing malformations associated with phenytoin. Polytherapy may lead to excessive amount of unstable epoxides, such as arene oxides, and inhibit epoxide metabolism especially in fetuses with a genetic defect in fetal epoxide hydrolase activity. [15]

Evidence for increased risk of major malformations with increasing numbers of anticonvulsants come from several epidemiological studies. Lindhout et al. [16] reported a 5% risk for birth defects in children of women with epilepsy who took 2 drugs concomitantly, 10% in those who took 3 drugs and more than 20% when 4 drugs were used. When the seizures were controlled with only 1 anticonvulsant, the malformation risk was only 3% (*vs* 2% as in untreated women with epilepsy or in the general population).

The occurrence of specific malformations depends on timing of exposure during embryogenesis. [10,17] Neural tube defects (NTDs) occur before closure of the neural tube between days 21 and 28 after the first day of the last menstrual period (LMP).

Cleft lip occurs with exposure before day 35 and cleft palate before day 70, whereas congenital heart defects occur with exposure before day 42 post LMP.[18] Exposure after the first trimester should not affect rates of dysmorphology, except for the toxic effects on the brain, which develops throughout pregnancy.[19] The most commonly observed major malformations are heart defects, orofacial clefting, genitourinary malformations and NTDs.[13] Minor anomalies, which were described as a part of the fetal hydantoin syndrome, [20] were later hypothesised to be associated with maternal epilepsy and not necessarily with the anticonvulsants. [9,21,22] We have recently detected different patterns of minor anomalies caused by phenytoin, carbamazepine and untreated epilepsy.^[9]

Because the vast majority of NTDs can be ruled out by maternal or amniotic fluid α -fetoproteins combined with ultrasound, these should be routinely performed in women taking carbamazepine or valproic acid (sodium valproate).

At the present time some practising neurologists prefer carbamazepine as the drug of choice in pregnancy. [18] Carbamazepine has a risk of 1% for NTD, [23] compared with 2% for valproic acid. [24] It does not cause acne, hirsutism or face coarsening as does phenytoin. While the fetal hydantoin syndrome has been consistently associated with cognitive damage to some children, [20] studies with carbamazepine do not suggest similar damage, [25] although the literature is not consistent [26,27] and further studies at preschool and school age are needed.

Koch et al.^[28] suggested that valproic acid-exposed children had higher rates of neurological

dysfunction. Valproic acid serum concentrations at birth correlated with the degree of neonatal hyper-excitability and with the degree of dysfunction when the children were re-examined at the age of 6 years. [28] In a recent consensus opinion it was suggested that the anticonvulsive medication most effective for the type of epilepsy and seizure control for a given patient should be used. [18] Women in need of polytherapy are likely to experience more severe forms of epilepsy and drug-drug interaction, thus further increasing the risk for adverse pregnancy outcomes. [10]

Another mechanism which has been implicated in anticonvulsant-mediated teratogenicity is folate deficiency.^[10] Up to 90% reduction in folate serum levels was reported in patients treated with phenytoin, carbamazepine and barbiturates. Conversely, valproic acid did not reduce folate levels directly, but by interfering with its metabolism. [29-30] Folate supplementation was found to be effective in preventing several malformations, but, in particular, NTDs. The Medical Research Council study^[31] reported a 70% reduction of NTD recurrence among pregnant women who were supplemented with folic acid 4mg before conception and during gestation. The current recommendations call for folic acid 5 mg/day in women being treated with valproic acid or carbamazepine.^[2,32] Presently, however, there are no data to document the efficacy of this regimen in women with epilepsy, but the potential benefit of such an approach outweighs the theoretical risk of high levels of folate. [33] Cyanocobalamin (vitamin B₁₂) levels should be assessed before folic acid supplementation in an attempt to avoid neurological symptoms of cyanocobalamin deficiency.[34]

The contribution of genetic and seizure effects on fetal developments with respect to congenital malformation is not well defined. A control group with a large enough sample size of unmedicated women with epilepsy has not been assessed by any research group. Even if collected, such a control group may represent less severe forms of epilepsy with a low frequency of seizures.

The effect of seizure activity during pregnancy on fetal well-being has been investigated by several groups.^[35] Isolated seizures of short duration are generally believed to not have an adverse effect on the fetus. In contrast, spontaneous abortions, injury to the mother and fetus, fetal hypoxia, bradycardia and antenatal death have been reported^[3,36,37] with repeated tonic-clonic, complex partial seizures and status epilepticus. There is ample evidence that physiological changes during pregnancy may affect the duration and frequency of seizures. Seizure rates have been reported to increase in 17 to 37% of women with epilepsy. [2,36] When seizures recur in a well controlled woman during pregnancy, most often it takes place during the first and second trimesters.[33]

Poor patient compliance, sleep disturbances, nausea, vomiting and decreased levels of free (unbound) drugs are the main risk factors believed to decrease seizure control.^[18,38]

Increases in estrogen levels during pregnancy may reduce seizure threshold levels. [39] Progesterone reduces intestinal motility thus interfering with mucous secretion, gastric pH and may affect drug absorption. [38] Changes in seizure frequency during pregnancy may also stem from fluid and sodium retention, hyperventilation, and emotional and psychological problems. [40] A potential problem in the management of seizures may also arise from altered pharmacokinetics of anticonvulsants associated with pregnancy.

2. Pregnancy-Induced Pharmacokinetic Changes of Anticonvulsants

The plasma concentration of anticonvulsant drugs tends to fall during pregnancy as a result of a 50% expansion in plasma volume, decrease in protein binding, [41] increased clearance rate and a tendency towards decreasing patient compliance because of fears of teratogenicity. On the other hand, bound and free drug proportion changes (on steady-state conditions) may have only transitory clinical consequences due to the intrinsic ability of liver enzymes to metabolise the drug independently

of the extent to which the drug binds to the plasma proteins.^[42]

As most anticonvulsant drugs are acidic or neutral, they are highly bound to serum albumin. During late pregnancy, albumin levels fall, with a corresponding decrease in the fraction of bound drug, which leads to a decrease in the total (unbound and protein bound) plasma concentration. The decrease in plasma protein binding leads to more free drug available for biotransformation and clearance. Although the free anticonvulsant levels fall much less than the total levels, they often do decline significantly during pregnancy. [18,43]

Monitoring the total plasma concentrations of anticonvulsants can, therefore, be misleading. In complex clinical cases therapeutic drug monitoring that can measure both protein-bound and unbound drug concentrations can be helpful. The measurement of free drug concentrations of highly bound drugs should be considered in cases where seizure control is not achieved. It should be remembered that the appropriate free drug concentration is crucial for anticonvulsive control, as it is the free drug that reaches the brain. The increase in glomerular filtration rate^[44] (GFR) and renal plasma flow^[45] may theoretically enhance the clearance rate of renally excreted drugs, such as gabapentin and vigabatrin. However, there are presently no studies available regarding the pharmacokinetics of these agents during human pregnancy.

2.1 Carbamazepine

Carbamazepine has a relatively slow absorption, with 70 to 80% of protein binding to albumin. The main elimination route is by hepatic metabolism, and there may be a decrease in serum concentrations during the first months of therapy as a consequence of auto-induction of metabolism. Dose intervals and sample time are critical in interpreting serum concentrations. Large peak-trough fluctuations can be minimised by using a controlled-release formulation. [46] The concentrations of controlled-release carbamazepine tend to be lower in pregnant when compared to nonpregnant women.

As the bioavailability may be lower than with conventional carbamazepine, higher doses may be required when using controlled-release medications.^[47]

The concentration of the active metabolite (carbamazepine-10-11-epoxide) was reported to increase during pregnancy, possibly as a result of the increased carbamazepine metabolism and impaired conversion of carbamazepine-10-11-epoxide to carbamazepine-10-11 *trans*-diol. This increase is of potential importance as the metabolite (10-11-epoxide) is believed to have comparable pharmacological activity to the parent drug.^[48]

2.2 Phenytoin

Phenytoin follows nonlinear pharmacokinetics and has a narrow therapeutic window.[49] It is highly bound to protein (90 to 93%)[50,51] and cleared mainly by saturable hepatic metabolism. A substantial increase in 8-hydroxylation during pregnancy may be responsible, at least partially, for its increased clearance rate and consequently decreased serum concentrations.^[52] Generally, a fall in total serum phenytoin concentrations may cause a lack of seizure control and may require increases in dosage. However, as indicated above (in section 2), the total concentration by itself may not indicate a fall in free drug concentrations. The decrease in the protein binding of phenytoin may be an important mechanism for decreasing total drug concentrations in pregnancy as it is the free drug that is available for the enhanced metabolism.

2.3 Valproic Acid (Sodium Valproate)

Valproic acid is rapidly absorbed and highly protein bound to plasma albumin (88 to 92%). [53] The interpretation of its pharmacokinetics is limited by large fluctuations in the concentration-time profile, wide therapeutic index and concentration-dependent protein binding. [54,55] Analysis of unbound valproic acid is not routine and similarly there is no established therapeutic range. Dose adjustments during pregnancy are best made by clinical observation in combination with therapeutic drug monitoring. Divided doses are preferred to

avoid high peaks in serum concentrations of valproic acid. [18]

2.4 Phenobarbital

Phenobarbital has been less frequently prescribed during the last few years because of its tendency to produce sedation and impaired cognitive function. It has a high oral bioavailability (90%) and is only 50% protein—bound. Similar to phenytoin and carbamazepine, it induces hepatic microsomal oxidative enzymes and may interact with the therapeutic efficacy of other drugs.

Neonates exposed prenatally to phenobarbital should be monitored for withdrawal symptoms for 2 to 6 weeks. Such monitoring should start at day 7 of life because of the long elimination half-life (100 hours) of phenobarbital.

2.5 New Anticonvulsants

The new anticonvulsants tend to have low levels of protein binding (e.g. topiramate, felbamate, oxcarbazepine) or do not bind to protein (e.g. gabapentin, vigabatrin). They are eliminated from the body through renal clearance. Vigabatrin and gabapentin have no effect on the cytochrome P450 enzyme system, while gabapentin, lamotrigine and vigabatrin have no antifolate effects. The new anticonvulsants also have no arene oxide metabolites and if given in monotherapy may be considered for use for women with epilepsy, but there is little information regarding their pharmacokinetics and safety during pregnancy.

Animal studies have been extremely beneficial in understanding the mechanisms of adverse effects and teratogenicity of new anticonvulsants. They are very informative in testing hypotheses and assessing nutrition and environmental factors, which may interfere with or modify normal embryonic or fetal development. Although animal studies help to clarify pharmacokinetic changes in pregnancy and to define the risk factors associated with teratogenicity, [56] they may be imperfect predictors of human teratogenicity. Animals may exhibit increased sensitivity in response to much higher doses medication than in human exposure (tiagab-

ine), or show species-specific effects, effects not observed in humans (topiramate).^[57] However, recent reports regarding animal reproductive toxicology of new anticonvulsants appear to be promising. Although results of animal studies regarding teratogenic effects of the new anticonvulsants are encouraging, it is too early conclude whether such data will apply to humans.

The Lamotrigine Pregnancy Registry report^[58] (September 1, 1992 through March 31, 1998) contains a description of all prenatal exposure to lamotrigine voluntarily and prospectively reported to the registry. In prospective reports, there were 0 (confidence interval [CI], 0 to 12.6) birth defects in 34 pregnancies associated with first trimester exposure to lamotrigine monotherapy. However, there were birth defects in 5.6% (n = 6), [95%CI, 2.3 to 12.3) of 107 pregnancies consisting of patients treated with either lamotrigine only, or lamotrigine and other drugs. Outcomes include 4 live born infants with birth defects (1 infant had 1 extra digit on 1 hand [mother took carbamazepine prior and throughout gestation], 1 infant had bilateral talipes, 1 infant had skin tags on the left ear and no opening to the ear canal on the right ear [mother took gabapentin prior to and throughout pregnancy], 1 infant had cardiac murmur and patent foramen ovale requiring banding around the pulmonary artery; baby died at 3 months following corrective surgery) and 2 induced abortions involving birth defects (outcomes included NTD associated with severe cetral nervous system and multiple organ abnormalities [n = 2]). In prospective reports of all trimesters of exposure combined, there were no birth defects in 37 outcomes. The registry findings of 5.6% of birth defects associated with monotherapy and polytherapy are not higher when compared with that expected in pregnant women with epilepsy. [8,9] There was no consistent pattern of malformations among defects reported. The Lamotrigine Pregnancy Registry Advisory Committee concluded that the number of exposed pregnancies outcomes represent a sample of insufficient size for reaching definitive conclusions regarding safety of lamotrigine in pregnancy.

2.6 Effect of Anticonvulsants on Phytomenadione (Vitamin K)

The association between maternal anticonvulsant therapy and neonatal haemorrhage was reported 40 years ago^[59] and supported by a number of subsequent studies and reports.^[60] These haemorrhages, which typically occur during the first 24 hours after birth (in contrast with classic neonatal bleeding which occurs on day 2 or 3 after delivery),^[61] may be severe, involving the skin, brain and pleural and peritoneal cavities.

The mechanism and origin of these haemorrhages is not fully understood, but phytomenadione deficiency was observed in neonates exposed in utero to enzyme-inducing anticonvulsants such as carbamazepine, phenytoin, phenobarbital and primidone. These medications readily cross the placenta and induce liver enzymatic pathways resulting in increased degradation of phytomenadione and produce proteins that are induced by phytomenadione absence (PIVKA). These proteins are present when phytomenadione is absent in neonates exposed in utero to anticonvulsants. The decarboxylated form of prothrombin-PIVKA II, is the most sensitive marker for phytomenadione deficiency^[62] and was proven informative in studies^[62-65] of neonatal phytomenadione levels. Although phytomenadione does not easily cross the placenta from the maternal to the fetal circulation, prenatal supplementation of phytomenadione results in valuable effects in preventing neonatal bleeding.[66]

The consensus guidelines^[18] regarding women receiving enzyme-inducing anticonvulsants call for antenatal maternal phytomenadione supplementation at 20 mg/day orally throughout the last 4 weeks of gestation and phytomenadione 1 mg parenterally to the neonate immediately after delivery. If PIVKA is found in cord blood specimens, fresh frozen plasma should be given at a dose of 20 ml/kg over a period of 1 to 2 hours.^[18] While some experts still debate the value of maternal antenatal supplementation during the last month of pregnancy, general agreement has been reached regarding the necessity of parenteral neonatal prophylaxis.^[2]

3. Management Considerations

3.1 Preconceptional Counselling

Women should be counselled about the potential risk of increased seizure activity in pregnancy, to ensure that they do not avoid taking their medication. This is important since poor compliance, resulting in increased seizure activity, has tangible risks

Preconceptional counselling should optimally begin at least 3 months before conception to allow adequate supplementation of folic acid. Adequate patient education regarding the increased incidence of major malformations^[67] and possible adverse effects of anticonvulsant drugs to the fetal CNS^[25,68] should be provided.

Genetic counselling should be offered if both partners have epilepsy or the epileptic disorder is inherited. Gradual drug discontinuation (over at least 3 months) should be considered if the patient has been seizure-free for 2 or more years. A woman with epilepsy who is planning a pregnancy should be encouraged to quit smoking, maintain sufficient nutritional intake and attain adequate sleep. [18]

If treatment with anticonvulsant medications cannot be avoided, proper seizure control should be reached by the lowest effective dose of a single anticonvulsant which best controls seizures in the individual patient. Alternatively, pregnancy should be delayed until desired seizure control is reached. It should be remembered that polytherapy and/or higher daily doses are associated with higher rates of congenital malformations.

If valproic acid is indicated, divided doses are preferred to avoid high peaks of valproic acid plasma concentrations. [18,69] Combination of valproic acid, carbamazepine and phenobarbital has been reported to be more teratogenic than other combinations. [33]

Folic acid supplementation at 5 mg/day, should start 3 months before conception until the end of the first trimester. If possible, serum folate levels should be monitored to confirm sufficient supplementation.

3.2 Antenatal Management

More than 50% of all pregnancies are unplanned^[70] and if the pregnancy is confirmed while the woman is seizure free, there is no proven benefit in changing the patient's drug because the morphological teratogenic effects will be irreversible by 10 weeks of gestation.^[18] The patient should be advised regarding appropriate prenatal diagnosis for anticonvulsant-associated abnormalities. For example, targeted fetal ultrasound examination at 18 weeks can diagnose open NTD in up to 95% of fetuses.^[71,72] as can be other visualised anomalies.^[73]

Early transvaginal ultrasonography at 11 to 13 weeks to assess for NTD is possible.^[33] Detailed sonographic imaging of the fetal heart at 18 to 20 weeks followed by fetal echocardiography can identify up to 85% of cardiac defects. Imaging of the fetal face for cleft lip at 18 to 20 weeks may be performed, but the sensitivity of this assessment has yet to be established.^[33]

Amniocentesis with amniotic fluid α -fetoprotein and acetylcholinesterase may support suspicious anatomy or blood serum tests.

Epoxide hydrolase activity in amniocytes has been suggested to identify fetuses at risk for phenytoin-mediated anomalies. However, this test is not yet available for routine clinical use. Phytomenadione supplementation of the mother is recommended, as detailed above (see section 2.6). Nausea and vomiting of pregnancy may increase the risk of seizures. Hence, it is imperative to treat epileptic women effectively. The most widely studied drug to be proven effective is the combination of doxylamine and vitamin B_6 . Other proven treatments are vitamin B_6 by itself, antihistamines and acupressure. [75]

Optimally, therapeutic drug monitoring should be performed every 1 to 2 months, or more frequently if seizure control is not achieved.

3.3 Labour, Delivery and Birth

Tonic-clonic seizures occur during labour or after delivery in 1 to 2% of women with epilepsy. [18] Monitoring plasma anticonvulsant concentrations during the third trimester, and regular administration

of medication(s) are essential to prevent seizures due to inappropriately low serum concentrations.^[3]

Convulsive seizures at the time of labour and delivery are commonly treated with intravenous administration of benzodiazepines or phenytoin. Intravenous administration of phenytoin should be given with cardiac monitoring to detect possible dysrhythmias.^[71]

Emergency cesarean section is often performed when repeated tonic-clonic, psychomotor or absence seizures, or status epilepticus occur.^[37]

Obstetric intervention in the form of induction of labour, mechanical rupture of membranes, forceps delivery and cesarean section are more common among women with epilepsy, as are obstetric complications, including vaginal bleeding, anaemia and preeclampsia.^[3]

3.4 Management During Puerperium

Phytomenadione should be administered immediately after birth to the newborn. The neonate should be examined carefully for anticonvulsant- and epilepsy-associated dysmorphology. If the neonate was exposed to phenobarbital or primidone, observation for withdrawal symptoms should be performed during the first 7 months of life.

Maternal anticonvulsant drug concentrations should be carefully maintained with appropriate dose changes, bearing in mind that a decreased clearance rate postnatally may result in toxicity. The patient should be counselled regarding postpartum contraception. The use of oral contraceptive agents is not contraindicated in women with epilepsy. [59] For patients treated with hepatic enzyme-induced anticonvulsants a higher dose (estrogen 50μg) combination oral contraceptive pill will be needed to compensate for the higher rate of clearance of the hormone.

The issues of breast-feeding should also be discussed with the mother as most women with epilepsy can breast-feed. Phenytoin and valproic acid are highly protein bound and, therefore, only low levels of these drugs are present in breast milk. Carbamazepine and phenobarbital are present in high concentrations in breast milk. Because of the

sedative effect of phenobarbital, breast feeding is not recommended. When the mother is taking phenobarbital and breast-feeding, the infant must be monitored for the risk of lethargy and poor suck.

4. Summary

Proper seizure control is the primary goal in treating women with epilepsy. Patients should understand the risks associated with uncontrolled seizures as well as the teratogenicity of the anticonvulsive medication in question. If anticonvulsants cannot be avoided, the most appropriate first-line drug for the seizure type should be used at the lowest effective dose. Judicious preconceptional, antenatal and postpartum management lead to a favourable maternal and neonatal outcome in the vast majority of patients.

References

- Dansky LV, Andermann E, Andermann F. Marriage and fertility in epileptic patients. Epilepsia 1980; 21 (3): 261-71
- 2. Byrne B. Epilepsy and pregnancy. Ir Med J 1997; 90: 173-4
- Yerby MS. Pregnancy and epilepsy. Epilepsia 1991; 32 Suppl. 6: S51-9
- Medeiros YS, Calixto JB. Inhibitory effect of diphenylhydantoin on myometrium from pregnant women in vitro. A comparative study with nicardipine and trifluoperazine. Pharmacol Res 1990; 22 (5): 597-603
- Nappi C, Meo R, Di Carlo C, et al. Reduced fertility and neuroendocrine dysfunction in women with epilepsy. Gynecol Endocrinol 1994; 8: 133-45
- Isojarvi JI, Laatikainen TJ, Pakarinen AJ, et al. Menstrual disorders in women with epilepsy receiving carbamazepine. Epilepsia 1995; 36: 676-81
- Isojarvi JI, Laatikainen TJ, Pakarinen AJ, et al. Polycystic ovaries and hyperandrogenism in women taking valproate for epilepsy. N Engl J Med 1993; 329: 1383-8
- Kaneko S. Antiepileptic drug therapy and reproductive consequences: functional and morphological effects. Reprod Toxicol 1991; 5 (3): 179-98
- Nulman I, Scolnik D, Chitayat D, et al. Findings in children exposed in utero to phenytoin and carbamazepine monotherapy: independent effects of epilepsy and medications. Am J Med Genet 1997; 68 (1): 18-24
- Kaneko S, Otani K, Fukushima Y, et al. Teratogenicity of antiepileptic drugs: analysis of possible risk factors. Epilepsia 1988; 29: 459-67
- Janz D. On major malformations and minor anomalies in the offspring of parents with epilepsy: review of the literature. In: Janz D, Dam M, Richens A, et al. Epilepsy, pregnancy, and the child. New York: Raven Press, 1982: 211-22
- Majewski F, Steger M, Richter B, et al. The teratogenicity of hydantoins and barbiturates in humans, with considerations on the etiology of malformations and cerebral disturbances in the children of epileptic parents. Int J Biol Res Pregnancy 1981; 2 (1): 37-45
- Dansky LV, Finnell RH. Parental epilepsy, anticonvulsant drugs, and reproductive outcome: epidemiologic and experi-

- mental findings spanning three decades; 2: Human studies. Reprod Toxicol 1991; 5 (4): 301-35
- Finnel RM, Buehler BA, Kerr BM, et al. Clinical and experimental studies linking oxidative metabolism to phenytoin-induced teratogenesis. Neurology 1992; 42 (4 Suppl. 5): 25-31
- Buehler BA, Delimout D, Van Waes M, et al. Prenatal prediction of risk of the fetal hydantoin syndrome. N Engl J Med 1990; 322 (22): 1567-72
- Lindhout D, Hoppener RJ, Meinardi H. Teratogenicity of antiepileptic drug combinations with special emphasis on epoxidation (of carbamazepine). Epilepsia 1984; 25 (1): 77-83
- Sulik KK, Johnston MC, Daft PA, et al. Fetal Alcohol Syndrome and DiGeorge anomaly: critical ethanol exposure periods for craniofacial malformations as illustrated in an animal model. Am J Med Genet 1986; Suppl. 2: 97-112
- Delgado-Escueta AV, Janz D. Consensus guidelines: preconception counselling, management, and care of the pregnant woman with epilepsy. Neurology 1992; 42 (4 Suppl. 5): 149-60
- Chronology of neural development. In: Spreen O, Tupper D, Risser A, et al. Human developmental neuropsychology. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1984: 26-8
- Hanson JW, Myrianthopoulos NC, Harvey MA, et al. Risks to the offspring of women treated with hydantoin anticonvulsants, with emphasis on the fetal hydantoin syndrome. J Pediatr 1976; 89 (4): 662-8
- Gaily E, Granstrom ML. Minor anomalies in children of mothers with epilepsy. Neurology 1992; 42 (4 Suppl. 5): 128-31
- Gaily E, Granstrom ML, Hiilesmaa V, et al. Minor anomalies in the offspring of epileptic mothers. J Pediatr 1988; 112: 520-9
- Rosa FW. Spina bifida in infants of women treated with carbamazepine during pregnancy. N Engl J Med 1991; 324 (10): 674-7
- Omtzigt JG, Los FJ, Grobbee DE, et al. The risk of Spina Bifida aperta after first-trimester exposure to valproate in a prenatal cohort. Neurology 1992; 42 (4 Suppl. 5): 119-25
- Scolnik D, Nulman I, Rovet J, et al. Neurodevelopment of children exposed in utero to phenytoin and carbamazepine monotherapy. JAMA 1993; 271 (10); 767-70
- Ornoy A, Cohen E. Outcome of children born to epileptic mothers treated with carbamazepine during pregnancy. Arch Dis Child 1996; 75 (6): 517-20
- Jones KL, Lacro RV, Johnson KA, et al. Pattern of malformations in the children of women treated with carbamazepine during pregnancy. N Engl J Med 1989; 320 (25): 1661-6
- Koch S, Jager-Roman E, Losche G, et al. Antiepileptic drug treatment in pregnancy: drug side effects in the neonate and neurological oncome. Acta Paediatr 1996; 85 (6): 739-46
- Ogawa Y, Kaneko S, Otani K, et al. Serum folic acid levels in epileptic mothers and their relationship to congenital malformations. Epilepsy Res 1991; 8 (1): 75-8
- Dansky LV, Rosenblatt DS, Andermann E. Mechanisms of teratogenesis: folic acid and antiepileptic therapy. Neurology 1992; 42 (4 Suppl. 5): 32-42
- MRC Vitamin Study Research Group. Prevention of neural tube defects: results of the Medical Research Council Vitamin Study. Lancet 1991; 338 (8760): 131-7
- 32. Brodie MJ, Dichter MA. Antiepileptic drugs. N Engl J Med 1996; 334 (3): 168-75
- Malone FD, D'Alton ME. Drugs in pregnancy: anticonvulsants. Semin Perinatol 1997; 21 (2): 114-23
- Shuster EA. Epilepsy in women (Symposium on Epilepsy Pt. VII). Mayo Clin Proc 1996; 71 (10): 991-9
- Yerby M, Koepsell T, Daling J. Pregnancy complications and outcomes in a cohort of women with epilepsy. Epilepsia 1985: 26: 631-5

- Lopes-Cendes I, Andermann E, Candes F, et al. Risk factors for changes in seizure frequency during pregnancy of epileptic women: A cohort study [abstract]. Epilepsia 1992; 33 Suppl. 3: 57
- Hiilesmaa VK. Pregnancy and birth in women with epilepsy. Neurology 1992; 42 (4 Suppl. 5): 8-11
- Loebstein R, Lalkin A, Koren G. Pharmacokinetic changes during pregnancy and their clinical relevance. Clin Pharmacokinet 1997; 33 (5): 328-43
- Morrell MJ. Hormones, reproductive health and epilepsy. In: Wyllie E, editor. The treatment of epilepsy: principles and practice. 2nd ed. Baltimore (MD): Williams & Wilkins, 1997: 179-87
- Koren G. Changes in drug disposition in pregnancy and their clinical implications. In: Koren G, editor. Maternal-fetal toxicology: a clinician's guide. 2nd rev. ed. New York: Marcel Dekker, Inc., 1994: 3-13
- Pirani BB, Campbell DM, MacGillivray I. Plasma volume in normal first pregnancy. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Commonw 1973; 80 (10): 884-7
- Riva R, Albani F, Contin M, et a. Pharmacokinetic interactions between antiepileptic drugs. Clinical considerations. Clin Pharmacokinet 1996; 6: 470-93
- Yerby MS, Freil PN, McCormick K. Antiepileptic drug disposition during pregnancy. Neurology 1992; 42 Suppl. 5: 12-6
- Davison JM, Hytten FE. Glomerular filtration during and after pregnancy. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Commonw 1974; 81 (8): 588-95
- Dunihoo DR. Maternal physiology. In: Dunihoo DR, editor. Fundamentals of gynecology and obstetrics. Philadelphia (PA): J.B. Lippincott Co., 1992: 280-4
- Yerby MS, Friel PN, Miller DQ. Carbamazepine protein binding and disposition in pregnancy. Ther Drug Monit 1985; 7

 (3): 269-73
- Tomson T, Almkvist O, Nilsson BY, et al. Carbamazepine-10, 11-epoxide in epilepsy. A pilot study. Arch Neurol 1990; 47 (8): 888-992
- Bourgeois BFD, Wad N. Individual and combined antiepileptic and neurotoxic activity of carbamazepine and carbamazepine-10, 11-epoxide in mice. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1984; 231: 411-5
- Armijo JA, Cavada E. Graphic estimation of phenytoin dose in adults and children. Ther Drug Monit 1991; 13 (6): 507-10
- Brodie MJ. Management of epilepsy during pregnancy and lactation. Lancet 1990; 336 (8712): 426-7
- Perucca E, Richens A, Ruprah M. Serum protein binding of phenytoin in pregnant women. Proc Br Pharmacol Soc 1981; 11: 409P-10P
- Bologa M, Tang B, Klein J, et al. Pregnancy-induced changes in drug metabolism in epileptic women. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1991; 257 (2): 735-40
- Thomson AH, Brodie MJ. Pharmacokinetics optimisation of anticonvulsant therapy. Clin Pharmacokinet 1992; 23 (3): 216-30
- Henriksen O, Johannessen SI. Clinical and pharmacokinetic observations on sodium valproate: a 5-year follow-up study of 100 children with epilepsy. Acta Neurol Scand 1982; 65 (5): 504-23
- Pugh CB, Garnett WR. Current issues in the treatment of epilepsy. Clin Pharm 1991; 10 (5): 335-58
- Wilson JG. Current status of teratology general principles and mechanisms derived from animal studies. In: Wilson JG, Fraser FC, editors. Handbook of teratology. Vol. 1. New York: Plenum Press, 1977: 47-74
- Reife RA. Topiramate: a novel antiepileptic agent. In: Shorvan SD, et al., editors. The treatment of epilepsy. Oxford: Blackwen Science, 1996: 471-81
- Lamotrigine Pregnancy Registry. International interim update.
 1st Septmeber 1992 through 31 March 1998. Issued June 1998. Glaxo Wellcome

- Van Creveld S. Nouveau aspects de la maladie héimorragique du nouveau-vie [in French]. Arch Fr Pediatr 1958; 6: 721-35
- 60. Moslet U, Hansen ES. A review of vitamin K, epilepsy and pregnancy. Acta Neurol Scand 1992; 85 (1): 39-43
- Sutor AH. Vitamin K deficiency bleeding in infants and children. Semin Thromb Hemost 1995; 21 (3) 317-29
- Anai T, Hirota Y, Oga M, et al. PIVKA-II (protein induced by vitamin K absence-II) status in newborns exposed to anticonvulsant drugs in utero. Nippon Sanka Fujinka Gakkai Zasshi 1991: 43 (3): 347-50
- Motohara K, Kuroki Y, Kan H, et al. Detection of vitamin K deficiency by use of an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for circulating abnormal prothrombin. Pediatr Res 1985; 19: 354-7
- 64. Widdershove J, Lamver W. Motohara K, et al. Plasma concentrations of vitamin K and PIVKA-II in bottle-fed and breast-fed infants with and without vitamin K prophylaxis at birth. Eur J Pediatr 1988; 148: 139-42
- Cornelissen M, Steggers-Theunisse R, Kollee L, et al. Increased incidence of neonatal vitamin K deficiency resulting from maternal anticonvulsant therapy. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1993; 168: 923-7
- Cornelissen M, Steegers-Theunissen R, Kollee L, et al. Supplementation for vitamin K in pregnant women receiving anticonvulsant therapy prevents neonatal vitamin K deficiency. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1993; 168 (3 Pt 1): 884-8
- Nakane Y, Okuma T, Takahashi R, et al. Multi-institutional study on the teratogenicity and fetal toxicity of antiepileptic drugs: a report of a collaborative study group in Japan. Epilepsia 1980; 21 (6): 663-80
- 68. Fujioka K, Kaneko S, Hirano T, et al. A study of the psychomotor development of the offspring of epileptic mothers. In: Sato T, Shinagawa S, editors. Antiepileptic drugs and pregnancy. Amsterdam: Excerpta Medica, 1984: 196-206
- Samren EB, van Duijn CM, Koch S, et al. Maternal use of antiepileptic drugs and the risk of major congenital malformations: a joint European prospective study of human teratogenesis associated with maternal epilepsy. Epilepsia 1997; 38: 981-90
- Sophocles AM, Brozovich EM. Birth control failure among patients with unwanted pregnancies: 1982-1984. J Fam Pract 1986; 22 (1): 45-8
- American Collage of Obstetricians and Gynecologists: Seizure disorders in pregnancy. ACOG educational bulletin Number 231, December 1996. Committee on Educational Bulletins of the International Journal of Gynaecology and Obstetrics 1997; 56 (3): 279-86
- Mattson RH, Cramer JA, Darney PD, et al. Use of oral contraceptives by women with epilepsy. JAMA 1986; 256 (2): 238-40
- Koren G, Nulman I. Fetal malformations associated with drugs and chemicals: visualization by sonography. In: Koren G, editor. Maternal-fetal toxicology: a clinician's guide. 2nd. rev. ed. New York: Marcel Dekker, Inc., 1994: 627-39
- Mazzotta P, Gupta A, Maltepe C, et al. Pharmacology treatment of nausea and vomiting during pregnancy. Can Family Phys 1998; 44: 1499-557
- Erick M. Nausea and vomiting in pregnancy. ACOG Clin Rev 1997; 2: 1-2, 14-6

Correspondence and reprints: Dr *Irena Nulman*, The Motherisk Program, Division of Clinical Pharmacology and Toxicology, Department of Paediatrics, Hospital for Sick Children, University of Toronto, Toronto M5G 1X8Canada. E-mail: inulman@sickkids.on.ca